

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Decomposing euro area sovereign spreads: credit, liquidity and convenience

by Marcello Pericoli and Marco Taboga







Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Decomposing euro area sovereign spreads: credit, liquidity and convenience

by Marcello Pericoli and Marco Taboga

Number 1021 - July 2015

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Giuseppe Ferrero, Pietro Tommasino, Piergiorgio Alessandri, Margherita Bottero, Lorenzo Burlon, Giuseppe Cappelletti, Stefano Federico, Francesco Manaresi, Elisabetta Olivieri, Roberto Piazza, Martino Tasso. *Editorial Assistants:* Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

DECOMPOSING EURO AREA SOVEREIGN SPREADS: CREDIT, LIQUIDITY AND CONVENIENCE

by Marcello Pericoli* and Marco Taboga *

Abstract

The paper provides an empirical analysis of sovereign bond spreads for selected euro-area countries. Several methodologies are used to measure and assess the relative importance of three components of sovereign spreads: credit premiums, liquidity premiums and convenience yields. We find that, except for Germany, credit premiums explain most of both the level and the variability of spreads, while the other two factors play a limited role, although in several cases they are statistically significant and may become economically relevant during brief episodes of illiquidity.

JEL Classification: G12.

Keywords: sovereign spreads, liquidity premia, convenience yields.

Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. The data	10
2.1 Government bond yields	11
2.2 Risk free rates	11
2.3 Proxies for credit premia	12
2.4 Proxies for liquidity premia	15
3. Descriptive statistics	18
4. Regression analysis	19
4.1 Results for Italy	20
4.2 Results for Spain	22
4.3 Results for Germany	23
4.4 Alternative specifications: convenience yields and CDS liquidity premia	23
5. Vector autoregressions	26
5.1 The VAR model	27
5.2 Estimation technique	27
5.3 Results for Italy	29
5.4 Results for Spain	30
5.5 Results for Germany	31
6. Conclusions	31
References	33
Figures	38
Tables	40

* Bank of Italy, DG Economics, Statistics and Research

1 Introduction¹

During the European sovereign debt crisis (e.g., Lane 2012, Shambaugh, Reis and Rey 2012), the yield differentials between sovereign bonds and risk-free assets – the so called sovereign spreads – increased dramatically in some euro area countries. There is a wide consensus that these increases reflected a sharp rise in the credit premia² required by investors as compensation for the default risk of sovereign issuers. However, some studies (e.g., Monfort and Renne 2014) have advanced the hypothesis that also increases in liquidity premia might have significantly contributed to the hike in sovereign spreads. In this paper we conduct an empirical analysis aimed at testing this hypothesis.

Assessing the relative importance of credit and liquidity premia is extremely relevant from a policy perspective, because it helps to understand what policy actions need to be undertaken in order to reduce sovereign spreads. In particular, credit premia can be reduced by increasing the perceived creditworthiness of sovereign issuers, for example, through budget discipline and structural reforms, while liquidity premia can be reduced by increasing the liquidity of sovereign bonds, which, in turn, can be achieved by fostering a better functioning of bond markets and by reducing transaction costs such as bid-ask spreads, search costs, and delays in trade execution.

Furthermore, from an investment manager's perspective, quantifying liquidity premia is important because it allows to identify the benefits of long-term strategies such as buying bonds and holding them to maturity.

We analyze 10-year sovereign bond spreads in the period 2007-2012, focusing on two euro-area countries (Italy and Spain) that were affected by significant sovereign tensions,

¹The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessary represent those of the Bank of Italy. Email addresses: marcello.pericoli@bancaditalia.it and marco.taboga@bancaditalia.it. We thank Giuseppe Grande, Stefano Siviero and Pietro Tommasino for helpful comments.

²For the sake of simplicity, in what follows we will use the term "premium" to refer to the overall compensation required to bear a given risk, which includes both the compensation for the expected losses generated by the risk and the risk premium *stricto sensu*, that is, the additional remuneration that is required by risk-averse agents on top of the compensation for the expected losses.

but continued issuing sovereign bonds throughout the whole period³. During the sovereign crisis, not only the spreads on Italian and Spanish sovereign bonds experienced dramatic increases, but also the liquidity of these bonds deteriorated significantly, as indicated, for example, by a surge in their bid-ask spreads. We also analyze Germany, not only because it is representative of the group of euro area countries that were less affected by the tensions, but also because its sovereign bonds are commonly considered a risk-free benchmark, as well as a "flight-to-quality asset" (e.g., Arghyrou and Kontonikas 2012, Arce, Mayordomo and Peña 2013).

As a first step of our analysis, we discuss the identification of credit and liquidity premia and we propose several proxies for these premia. We use data from the credit default swap (CDS) market to derive proxies for the credit premia. We find evidence that raw CDS spreads might be inaccurate proxies for the credit premia, and we propose other proxies, based on risk-neutral expected default losses estimated from the whole term structure of CDS spreads. These proxies provide a better fit to sovereign spreads than raw CDS spreads. For liquidity premia, we use a measure of the degree of illiquidity of sovereign bonds (the bid-ask spread) and several estimates of the liquidity premia embedded in other financial instruments, which approximate investor's appetite for liquidity.

We perform a regression analysis where we consider several different model specifications and choices of the liquidity and credit proxies. We find that our proxies for the credit premia explain a predominant portion of the variability of Italian and Spanish sovereign spreads (up to 97 per cent), while the liquidity variables have little incremental explanatory power. Furthermore, liquidity effects are statistically significant in some specifications, but the inferences about these effects are sometimes not robust across models. As far as economic significance is concerned, the magnitude of liquidity effects is found to be on average small

³Note that even if Spain resorted to a financial assistance programme in 2012, the programme concerned only its financial sector, and Spain continued to have market access and to issue sovereign bonds, unlike the other countries that asked for financial assistance (Greece, Ireland and Portugal).

(across models and time). For example, the Italian sovereign spread is on average 172 basis points in our sample, and less than 10 basis points are estimated to be due to liquidity effects. However, it is not possible to rule out that these effects were large during at least part of our sample. For instance, according to one of our specifications, in November 2011 a temporary spike of the Italian bid-ask spread beyond 100 basis points is estimated to have had an impact larger than 200 basis points on the Italian sovereign spread.

In most specifications, increases in investors' appetite for liquidity are estimated to determine a reduction in Italian and Spanish sovereign spreads. We argue that this finding might be explained by the fact that, despite the deterioration in liquidity experienced on the secondary market for Italian and Spanish sovereign bonds, these bonds continued to be highly liquid assets for banks because they could be used in repo transactions (not only with other banks but also with the central bank) and could be temporarily turned into liquidity at no cost even when liquidation on the spot market became expensive. The premium associated to this possibility, which represents the economic value of pledgeability and is usually known as convenience yield, might have been higher exactly when investors attached a higher value to liquidity, that is, when their appetite for liquidity was higher. By running regressions that include a proxy for the convenience yield, we find empirical support for this hypothesis.

To our knowledge, ours is the first analysis of sovereign spreads during the sovereign debt crisis that attempts to identify convenience yields as a separate component (beyond credit and liquidity premia). We note that there seems to be no unanimous agreement on a definition of convenience yield and no standard methodologies to estimate the convenience yield on a given bond, although there are several papers that deal with the differences in convenience yield induced by repo specialness (e.g., Buraschi and Menini 2002, Cherian, Jacquier and Jarrow 2004). Nonetheless, we believe that attempting to address the issue of convenience yields is important in order to have a complete picture of the non-credit components of sovereign spreads. We also use Bayesian vector autoregressions (VARs) to analyze the dynamic interactions among sovereign spreads and our proxies for credit and liquidity premia. The results from the VAR analysis are similar to those from the regression analysis: shocks to the credit premia explain the great majority of the variability in sovereign spreads, while shocks to the liquidity proxies explain a small fraction of variance and are often not statistically significant.

The impact of illiquidity on asset prices has been studied extensively, from both a theoretical and an empirical point of view.

Constantinides (1986) provided one of the earliest theoretical contributions and showed that illiquidity has a second-order effect on asset prices. In his intertemporal equilibrium model the primary effect of illiquidity is to reduce the frequency of trade, and this reduction induces deviations from optimal portfolio holdings that have a negligible impact on investors' utility. Subsequently, however, other scholars have proposed models where illiquidity has a first-order effect on equilibrium asset prices. For example, in Huang's (2003) model, illiquidity has a first-order effect if it is coupled with borrowing constraints. Furthermore, in principle, the impact of illiquidity should depend on how illiquidity covaries with all non-diversifiable (priced) sources of risk (as, for example, in the liquidity-adjusted capital asset pricing model of Acharya and Pedersen 2005).

From an empirical viewpoint, there is abundant evidence that illiquidity has statistically and economically significant effects on the prices of stocks (e.g., Amihud and Mendelson 1986, Pastor and Stambaugh 2003, Acharya and Pedersen 2005) and corporate bonds (e.g., Longstaff, Mithal and Neis 2005, Chen, Lesmond and Wei 2007). Instead, the evidence regarding sovereign bonds is less abundant. More importantly, it is quite mixed, especially as far as the period of the European sovereign debt crisis is concerned.

Favero, Pagano and von Thadden (2010) analyze the sovereign spreads of a number of euro area countries in the period 2002-2003. They find that the impact of illiquidity on spreads is sometimes statistically significant, but its economic magnitude is not large. Furthermore, consistently with the predictions of a model of endogenous liquidity demand, the size of the impact depends on the interaction with a variable that measures aggregate risk.

Beber, Brandt and Kavajecz (2009) also analyze euro-area sovereign spreads in a precrisis period (2003-2004). They find that the bulk of sovereign spreads is explained by differences in credit quality, but liquidity can play a nontrivial role in times of heightened market uncertainty.

Note that in the pre-crisis periods analyzed by Favero, Pagano and von Thadden (2010) and Beber, Brandt and Kavajecz (2009) sovereign spreads were of a different order of magnitude compared to the crisis period. For example, in the period analyzed by Beber, Brandt and Kavajecz (2009) the average sovereign spread is less than 4 basis points for Italy, as compared to an average of 172 basis points in our sample period (from 2007 to 2012).

Monfort and Renne (2014) propose a no-arbitrage term-structure model to jointly price the sovereign bonds issued by a number of euro area countries and by KfW, a German agency whose bonds have the same credit risk of German sovereign bonds because they are guaranteed by the Federal Government, but are much less liquid than German government bonds. In their model, the short-term yield spread of a given issuer is a linear function of two latent variables: one that is country-specific and one that is common to all issuers but the German government. Using data from July 2006 to February 2013, they find that the common variable explains a significant portion of the variability in the term-structures of sovereign spreads. Based on the imposed exclusion restriction that the common variable affects less liquid KfW bonds but not German bonds, they suggest that this variable might be a proxy for the premium demanded by investors as compensation for illiquidity. To compare their results with ours and with others reported in the literature, we note that they estimate that the liquidity premium is on average 45 basis points out of 168 (for Italy, on the 5-year maturity).

Wagenvoort and Zwart (2014) also analyze the sovereign yields of a number of euro area

countries in a period (from February 2006 to December 2011) that overlaps with the period of the sovereign crisis. They set up a factor model where risk-free rates, credit premia and liquidity premia are latent and they propose a novel technique (called Longitudinal Factor Analysis) to estimate these latent factors. They impose several identifying restrictions on factor loadings (among which proportionality between liquidity premia and transaction costs) and estimate that liquidity premia were on average small during their sample period (less than 3 basis points on average for Italy on the 10-year maturity).

Both Monfort and Renne (2014) and Wagenvoort and Zwart (2014) use latent variable models. The fact that they reach very different conclusions about the magnitude of liquidity premia suggests that the results from their class of models might be sensitive to the assumptions made in order to identify the premia.

In light of the heterogeneity of the results found in the literature, we advocate the necessity of taking an approach that is – as much as possible – free of assumptions. For this reason, we propose a broad range of proxies for credit and liquidity premia and we use several models to estimate their impact on sovereign spreads.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section 2 discusses the data and our choice of the proxies for credit and liquidity premia; Section 3 presents some descriptive statistics; Section 4 contains the regression analysis; Section 5 discusses the Bayesian VARs; Section 6 concludes.

2 The data

We employ data on three countries (Germany, Italy and Spain) from January 2007 to November 2012. Our choice of the end date is motivated by the fact that after November 2012 sovereign CDS trading restrictions came into effect in the European Union. As we use also data from the CDS market to identify credit premia, we prefer to avoid using prices that

could have seriously been distorted by these restrictions (see, e.g., Banerjee and Graveline 2014). As far as the start date is concerned, we performed some robustness checks on our empirical analyses, by moving the start date forward (to the beginnings of 2008 and 2009), and we found that the main results from the analyses do not change significantly.

Although all our data are available at a daily frequency, we sample it at a weekly frequency, in order to reduce distortions due to market microstructure effects⁴.

Details of the data are reported in the next sub-sections.

2.1 Government bond yields

We focus our attention on the 10-year maturity. In order to avoid coupon biases (e.g., Livingston and Jain 1982, Papageorgiou and Skinner 2006) and to ensure comparability across markets, we use 10-year zero-coupon spot rates obtained by fitting a term structure model to government bond prices. For each country, the term structure at a given date is estimated with the prices of all fixed-coupon bonds that were traded at that date, excluding those whose residual maturity was less than 30 days. As in Fisher, Nychka and Zervos (1995), we fit a smoothing spline to the curve of instantaneous forward rates, by minimizing mean squared pricing errors, and we obtain zero-coupon spot rates by integrating the interpolated forward curve.

2.2 Risk free rates

We use the 10-year Overnight Indexed Swap (OIS) rate as a proxy for the 10-year risk-free rate. OIS are swap contracts where one counterparty receives a variable payment indexed to the interest rate on overnight unsecured interbank deposits between prime banks, and the other counterparty receives the fixed OIS rate. Because overnight interbank deposits

⁴In particular, we want to reduce at a minimum spurious autocorrelations due to potentially stale CDS quotes and to the fact that the closing prices of instruments traded on different markets might be recorded at different daytimes.

between prime banks are considered virtually risk free, OIS rates are deemed a very good proxy for long-term risk-free rates (e.g., Morini 2009, Mercurio 2009, Ejsing, Grothe and Grothe 2012, Taboga 2013). Given the timing of the payments of OIS contracts, a simple recursive calculation can be used to extract a term structure of zero-coupon spot rates from the term-structure of OIS rates, so as to allow for a straightforward comparison with zerocoupon government bond rates (see previous subsection).

2.3 Proxies for credit premia

The credit premium is the part of the yield of a bond that compensates the bond holder for bearing credit risk, which includes not only the risk that the issuer of the bond will not honor its obligations, but also the risk that the price of the bond will fluctuate in response to unpredictable variations in the credit quality of the issuer or in the credit premia that investors will require in the future.

Our proxies for credit premia are based on CDS spreads. On a first approximation, we could think that the spread on a 10-year CDS written on a given 10-year bond is equal to the credit premium on that bond. The underlying argument runs as follows: if we buy a defaultable bond and we protect ourselves from credit risk via a CDS, we are *de facto* holding a default-free bond; therefore, if there are no arbitrages, the net yield of this protected position must not embed any credit premium; this implies that the additional yield we receive on the defaultable bond (the credit premium) must be equal to the CDS premium we pay as insurance against default. The fallacy in this argument is that the cash flows of a protected position (defaultable bond plus CDS protection) are not independent of credit events. As a matter of fact, when the issuer defaults and the CDS is triggered, the protection buyer delivers the defaulted bond and receives its face value. This represents an accelerated re-payment of principal (and deprivation of further coupons), and its possibility generates uncertainty about the cash flows of the protected position. Such uncertainty is not faced by the buyer of

a default-free bond, whose cash flows do not depend on credit events. There are also other reasons why the cash flows of a protected position have a residual dependency on credit events (see Hull, Predescu and White 2004). For these reasons, that is, for the residual credit risk faced by the holder of a protected defaultable bond, there can be a difference between the CDS spread and the credit premium on the defaultable bond (the difference can be due also to factors that are not related to credit risk, for example, CDS liquidity premia; see the discussion below). There is ample empirical evidence that this difference, known as "CDSbond basis", can be substantial and can vary through time (e.g., Blanco, Brennan and Marsh 2005).

In this paper, we use the 10-year CDS spread as one of our proxies for the credit premium on a 10-year bond. However, in order to take into account the fact, explained above, that the CDS spread is an imperfect measure of the credit premium on a bond, we also use another proxy: the yearly rate of expected default losses on the 10-year bond. In particular, we use Hull and White's (2000, henceforth HW) procedure to extract an implied risk-neutral survival function S_T from the whole term structure of CDS spreads, and we compute the yearly expected loss rate HW_T for a given maturity T as

$$HW_T = \left(S_T^{-1/T} - 1\right)(1 - R)$$

where S_T is the probability of not observing a default up to year T, and R is the fractional recovery rate, that is, the fraction of value of the bond that is recovered in case of default (Duffie and Singleton 1999, Duffie, Schroder and Skidas 1996). HW_T is the product of two terms. The first term $(S_T^{-1/T} - 1)$ is a constant hazard rate that can be interpreted as the average probability⁵ of observing a default within a year. The second term (1 - R) is a thinning term (Lando 1998) that allows to convert hazard rates into expected loss rates. In

⁵This is a risk-neutral probability.

the computation of both the survival function and the loss rate, the recovery rate is assumed to be equal to 40%. This is a standard assumption, and estimates of expected loss rates have been shown to be fairly insensitive to different assumptions, because changes in R tend to be compensated by changes in S_T (see, e.g., Hull and White 2003).

Note that CDS premia might embed components unrelated to the credit risk of the underlying bonds. For example, they might include counterparty risk premia to compensate the parties of the CDS contract for the risk that their counterparties will not live up to their contractual obligations. In this paper we ignore counterparty risk on CDS, based on the existing evidence that counterparty credit risk premia not only have been historically negligible, but have been practically vanishing in recent years thanks to the widespread practice of collateralizing CDS contracts (Arora, Gandhi and Longstaff 2012).

CDS spreads might also embed liquidity risk premia related to the illiquidity of CDS contracts. Because CDS are derivative contracts in zero net supply, it is in principle not obvious whether the liquidity premium is positive or negative, that is, whether it is demanded by buyers or sellers of CDS protection. The empirical evidence on this issue is mixed (see, e.g., Chen, Cheng and Wu 2005, Bühler and Trapp 2009, Bongaerts, de Jong and Driessen 2011, Tang and Yan 2012, Badaoui, Cathcart and El-Jahel 2013). Furthermore, there seems to be no widespread agreement on the theoretical foundations and the methodologies to measure CDS liquidity premia. For these reasons, we do not deal with the issue of CDS liquidity premia in our baseline specifications; we do, however, recognize that it could have an impact on our results and we propose a way to deal with it in our robustness checks.

2.4 Proxies for liquidity premia

The liquidity premium is the part of the yield of a bond that compensates the bond holder for the transaction costs she might incur in case she needs to sell the bond before its expiration⁶ (e.g., Constantinides 1986, Amihud and Mendelson 1986, Vayanos and Vila 1999, Jang, Koo, Liu and Loewenstein 2007); it also compensates the bond holder for the risk that the price of the bond will fluctuate in response to unpredictable variations in the transaction costs or in the liquidity premium that investors will require in the future (as, for example, in Duffie and Singleton 1999, Liu, Longstaff and Mandell 2006, Feldhütter and Lando 2008). The transaction costs can be direct costs such as broker fees and bid-ask spreads, or indirect costs arising from delay and search associated with trade execution (e.g., Duffie Garleanu and Pedersen 2002, Acharya and Pedersen 2005, Duffie Garleanu and Pedersen 2005). The magnitude of the transaction costs determines how liquid a bond is: the higher the costs, the more illiquid the bond.

From a conceptual viewpoint, it can be helpful to think of the liquidity premium on a bond as the product of two factors: the quantity of liquidity risk, that is, a quantification of the risks for which the premium represents a compensation, and the price per unit of liquidity risk, determined by market forces such as investors' demand for liquid assets. Of course, in reality things can be more complicated, and there can be a multiplicity of risks and associated prices, as, for example, in the liquidity-adjusted capital asset pricing model of Acharya and Pedersen (2005), where the liquidity premium on an asset is determined not only by the expected transaction costs specific to the asset, but also by the covariance of the transaction costs with the returns and the liquidity of the market portfolio.

While there is no readily available measure of the liquidity premium required by investors to hold the government bonds of a given country, the literature has identified some variables

⁶Jang, Koo, Liu and Loewenstein (2007) define the liquidity premium as the maximum expected return an investor is willing to exchange for zero transaction cost.

that, on the basis of theoretical considerations, should be correlated with the premium. To understand the role of these variables, we can think of them as belonging to either one of two categories:

- variables that measure the quantity of liquidity risk faced by the holders of the bond. The underlying argument is that there should be positive correlation between the quantity of liquidity risk and the liquidity premium even if there is time variation in the proportionality coefficient between the two, that is, even if the price of liquidity risk changes through time.
- 2. variables that reflect how liquidity risk is priced by investors (measures of investors' appetite for liquidity). These variables are typically computed as the yield spread between two securities that have identical or almost identical cash flows and levels of credit risk, but different degrees of liquidity. The spread represents the compensation required by investors for the relative illiquidity of one of the two securities. Changes in the spread can reflect changes either in the relative illiquidity of the two securities or in the price of liquidity risk. If the latter is similar across different assets, as suggested by the evidence on the existence of systematic components in liquidity premia (e.g., Lee 2011) and by the fact that liquidity premia are correlated with global funding conditions (e.g., Nagel 2012), then the spread should be correlated with the liquidity premia on other assets.

The first variable we use in our analysis is the bid-ask spread⁷ on government bonds, a widely used measure of illiquidity that falls within category 1) above. This variable is the

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{P_A - P_B}{P_A + P_B}$$

where P_B and P_A are the bid and ask prices of the bond.

⁷For each sovereign issuer and at each point in time, we average the bid-ask spreads on the three most recently issued 10-year bonds. For each bond, the spread is expressed in relative terms:

only country-specific measure of illiquidity we have in our dataset. This should not represent a limitation, as documented by Favero, Pagano and von Thadden (2010), who analyze also other measures of bond illiquidity and find that the bid-ask spread is the most significant one.

The other variables we use fall within category 2) and measure investors' appetite for liquidity. They are:

- the yield spread between KfW bonds and German government bonds⁸ (e.g., Schwarz 2010, Monfort and Renne 2014, Ejsing, Grothe and Grothe 2012). KfW bonds are agency bonds guaranteed by the German government. They are characterized by the same credit risk of government bonds, but they are less liquid.
- 2. the yield spread between off-the-run and on-the-run government bonds⁹ (e.g., Fontaine and Garcia 2012). On-the-run bonds are bonds that have been recently issued. Usually, they are traded more frequently and they are more liquid than bonds of comparable maturity that have been issued less recently (the so-called off-the-run bonds).
- 3. the yield spread between AAA corporate bonds and AAA government bonds¹⁰ (e.g., Bao, Pan and Wang 2011, de Jong and Driessen 2012). Despite having a similar level of credit risk, as indicated by the AAA rating (and the associated historical default records), corporate bonds are usually much less liquid than government bonds.
- 4. the simple average of the above three variables (denoted by LIQ in what follows). It is highly correlated (coefficient higher than 99 per cent) with the first principal component

⁸We compute the yield spread by fitting two zero-coupon yield curves (one for KfW bonds and one for government bonds) with the methodology described in Section 1.1, and by computing the difference between the two curves at the 10-year maturity.

⁹We compute it by averaging, across the three countries in our sample, the yield differential between the most recently issued 10-year bond and the 10-year bond that was issued just before the most recent.

¹⁰We compute it as the option-adjusted spread on the Bank of America Merrill Lynch 7-10 Year AAA Euro Corporate Index.

(computed from the correlation matrix of the variables), which explains 68 per cent of the variance.

3 Descriptive statistics

Table 1 reports some descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, quantiles) of the variables described above and used in our empirical analysis. Plots of some of these variables can be found in Figure 1 (sovereign spreads and proxies for credit premia) and Figure 2 (bid-ask spreads and proxies for liquidity premia). We do not provide detailed comments on the temporal evolution of the variables (but see, e.g., De Santis 2013), and we concentrate only on few relevant aspects.

First of all, we note that the sovereign spread, that is, the difference between the zerocoupon and the OIS 10-year rates, is on average positive also for Germany, contrary to the widespread belief that German yields can be used as proxies for risk-free rates. The dynamics of the German spread (Figure 1), as computed in this paper, are similar to those estimated by Wagenvoort and Zwart (2014), who propose a new factor analysis technique to extract the risk-free rate – a latent variable in their model – from a panel of euro area sovereign bond yields; their measure of the German sovereign spread, like ours, has been on average positive since the beginning of 2009.

The second fact we would like to stress concerns bid-ask spreads. While these spreads are on average not large in our sample (6, 20 and 33 basis points for Germany, Italy and Spain respectively), they are characterized by a significant variability (Figure 2). In particular, there are several periods in which the Italian and Spanish bid-ask spreads are close to 100 basis points¹¹. These figures suggest that Italian and Spanish bonds have experienced significant illiquidity during at least some parts of our sample period.

¹¹During a short episode of political turmoil in 2011, the Italian bid-ask spread spiked to 150 basis points.

4 Regression analysis

The analysis in this section is based on the following linear decomposition (e.g., Reinhart and Sack 2002):

$$R_{i,t} = R_t^f + C_{i,t} + L_{i,t}$$
(1)

where time periods and countries are indexed by the subscripts t and i respectively, $R_{i,t}$ is the zero-coupon sovereign yield, R_t^f is the risk-free rate, $C_{i,t}$ is the credit risk premium and $L_{i,t}$ is the liquidity risk premium.

Because the OIS rate is considered an excellent proxy for the risk-free rate (see Subsection 2.2), but the proxies we have for the credit and liquidity premia are at best imperfect, we estimate the following empirical counterpart of (1):

$$R_{i,t} - OIS_t = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 c_{i,t} + \alpha_2 l_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

where $c_{i,t}$ and $l_{i,t}$ are proxies for $C_{i,t}$ and $L_{i,t}$ respectively, α_i are regression coefficients, and $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ is a zero-mean error term orthogonal to the regressors. The regression coefficients and the error term can be thought of as the result of substituting C_t^i and $L_{i,t}$ in equation (1) with their linear projections on c_t^i and $l_{i,t}$.

The results from the regression analysis are reported below, and are subdivided by country, to facilitate exposition.

For each country, we estimate 24 different specifications of the regression model, obtained by combining the following alternative choices:

- in some models, we use the CDS spread as a proxy for the credit premium, while in other models we use the yearly expected credit loss rate *HW*;
- in some models, we impose the constraint $\alpha_1 = 1$, which is equivalent to assuming that our proxies for the credit premium are unbiased, while in other models we leave α_1 free

to vary;

- in some models, we include only the bid-ask spread (our proxy for illiquidity) or only a proxy for the price of liquidity risk (see Subsection 2.4), while in other models we include both;
- finally, we use different proxies for the price of liquidity risk (or investors' appetite for liquidity); we report the results obtained with the Kfw-Bund spread and with the LIQ indicator; the results obtained with the other proxies are not meaningfully different from those we report.

All of the statistics in this section are based on heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent estimates of the standard errors (we use Newey-West estimators with automatic selection of the bandwidth).

4.1 Results for Italy

Results for Italy are reported in Table 2.

As far as the proxies for the credit premium are concerned, both the CDS spread and the HW loss rate have a positive coefficient and are significant at all conventional levels of confidence. Moreover, they alone explain most of the variability in sovereign yields, with R^2 of up to 97%. In all the specifications, the HW loss rate provides a better fit to the data than the CDS spread. Furthermore, imposing the constraint $\alpha_1 = 1$ causes a noticeable decrease in R^2 when the CDS spread is used, but not when the HW loss rate is used. As a matter of fact, in the latter case the restriction $\alpha_1 = 1$ is almost never rejected by formal statistical tests, while in the former case it is rejected in the majority of specifications. These results suggest that the raw CDS spread is probably too rough a measure of the credit premium (see the theoretical reasons illustrated in Subsection 2.3). As far as the liquidity variables are concerned, we find that their explanatory power is limited. By adding the liquidity variables, we observe modest increases in R^2 (with respect to the models in which the only explanatory variable is a proxy for the credit premium).

In the majority of specifications, the bid-ask spread has a positive and statistically significant coefficient. This is consistent with the expected effect: the higher transaction costs are, the more illiquid a bond is, and the higher its liquidity premium and its spread are. The magnitude of the effect is estimated to be about 10 basis points (by taking an average across time and across specifications), as compared to an average value of more than 170 points for the sovereign spread. Moreover, the additional explanatory power of the bid-ask spread, in terms of increase in R^2 , is never higher than 1 per cent. However, it is not possible to rule out that increases in the bid-ask spread had an economically significant impact on the sovereign spread during at least part of our sample. For instance, according to one of our specifications, in November 2011 a momentary spike of the bid-ask spread beyond 100 basis points is estimated to have had an impact larger than 200 basis points on the Italian sovereign spread.

The Kfw-Bund spread is not significant in half of the specifications where it is included. Furthermore, when it is significant, its sign changes depending on the specification.

Finally, the LIQ indicator has a negative sign in all the specifications and it is significant in some of them. The interpretation would be that Italian bonds tend to trade at a premium when investors value liquidity more highly. This might seem counterintuitive. However, take into consideration the fact that Italian sovereign bonds can be used by banks in repo transactions, not only with other banks, but also with the European Central Bank. Thus, for a category of investors (banks), these bonds can be temporarily turned into liquidity with a repo at no cost even when liquidation on the spot market becomes expensive. The premium associated to this possibility (usually known as convenience yield) might have been higher exactly when investors attached a higher value to liquidity, that is, when LIQ was higher. This hypothesis is further discussed and tested in Section 4.4.

In the last column of Table 2 we report the standard errors of the regressions. These are on average around 0.30, which means that the part of the sovereign spread which is not explained by our variables is on average about 30 basis points. In the majority of our regressions, adding the liquidity variables reduces the standard error by less than 2 basis points.

As a robustness check, we also add to our regressions interaction terms obtained by multiplying our proxy for illiquidity (the bid-ask spread) by the proxies for the price of liquidity (LIQ and the KfW-Bund spread). We find (the results are not reported in the paper) that these interaction terms are seldom statistically significant and do not increase the explanatory power of the liquidity variables.

Overall, the results from our regressions suggest that proxies for the credit risk premium explain a predominant portion of the variability of the Italian sovereign spread, while the liquidity variables have little additional explanatory power. However, the liquidity variables are in several cases statistically significant and they can become economically relevant during short episodes of illiquidity.

4.2 Results for Spain

Results for Spain are reported in Table 3. They are qualitatively similar to those obtained for Italy.

The two proxies for the credit risk premium explain a preponderant portion of the variability of the sovereign spread, and the HW loss rate provides a better fit to the data than the CDS spread.

Furthermore, the bid-ask spread has a positive and statistically significant coefficient in the majority of specifications. The Kfw-Bund spread is significant only in one case, and in that case it has a positive sign, differently from all the other specifications, where it is not significant but it has a negative sign. The LIQ indicator has a negative sign in all the specifications and it is significant in most of them.

The R^2 of the regressions is high (up to 93%), but lower than that found for Italy. In other words, a larger portion of sovereign spreads remains unexplained.

4.3 **Results for Germany**

Results for Germany are reported in Table 4. Differently from what we find for Italy and Spain, the R^2 of the regressions is not high (up to 16%). In particular, the proxies for credit premia are not significant in the majority of specifications and provide limited explanatory power. This reinforces the evidence, already provided by other studies (e.g., Di Cesare et al. 2012), of a disconnect between German CDSs and government bonds. The bidask spread is instead highly significant also for Germany, and it provides some explanatory power. The other liquidity variables have little explanatory power and the inferences about their coefficients are not robust across models.

4.4 Alternative specifications: convenience yields and CDS liquidity premia

This section deals with two issues that have been left aside in the baseline specification: convenience yields and CDS liquidity.

If a bond can be used in repo transactions or, more generally, as collateral in secured financial transactions, the holders of the bonds might be willing to accept a reduction in its yield with respect to a similar bond that cannot be used as collateral. This reduction, which we call convenience yield, represents the compensation for the economic value of pledgeability. For example, pledgeability is valuable to banks because they can use the pledgeable bond to borrow funds on the repo market at an interest rate that is usually lower than the rate they pay on the unsecured interbank lending market. To our knowledge, there are no standard methodologies to estimate the convenience yield on a given bond, although there are several papers that deal with the differences in convenience yield induced by repo specialness (e.g., Buraschi and Menini 2002, Cherian, Jacquier and Jarrow 2004). Also, there seems to be no unanimous agreement on a definition of convenience yield, and some papers adopt a definition that is much broader than ours. For example, Feldhutter and Lando (2008) include in their definition of the convenience yield of US Treasuries also liquidity components that would be considered part of the liquidity premium in our conceptual framework (see Section 2.4). Given the lack of a standard definition (and, as a consequence, of standard estimation methodologies), we have not included proxies for the convenience yield in our baseline specifications. Nonetheless, we believe that attempting to address this issue is important, also because it helps to shed some light on the findings of the previous sections.

We propose to use the 3-month Euribor-Eurepo spread (see, e.g., Cassola, Hortaçsu and Kastl 2013) as a proxy for the convenience yield. Euribor is a benchmark rate used to gauge the cost of unsecured interbank borrowing while Eurepo is an indicator of the cost of secured borrowing through repos. Thus, the spread provides a measure of how much a bank can save on an interbank loan if it pledges government bonds as collateral. Of course, this is an imperfect measure, as the convenience yield of a specific bond can depend on several factors, among which the haircut that is applied to the bond and its specialness (or its probability of going on special in the future). Furthermore, the actual savings obtained from secured borrowing can be greater than indicated by the Euribor-Eurepo spread if repos with the central bank are cheaper than repos on the interbank market (e.g., under the fixed-rate full-allotment policy implemented by the ECB since 2008). Finally, given there is no readily available indicator of the cost of unsecured borrowing on the maturity we are studying in our regressions (10-year), we choose the 3-month maturity because it is widely considered the most significant one in terms of market impact (e.g., De Socio 2013).

Table 5 reports the estimates of some of the regression models presented in the previous sections, augmented by including the Euribor-Europo spread among the regressors. The results are clear cut: the estimated coefficient is always significant and has the expected sign (the higher the convenience, the lower the bond yield). Furthermore, when the proxy for the convenience yield is included, the bid-ask spread remains significant in most specifications, but the LIQ variable becomes insignificant. This supports our previous conjecture that the negative and significant coefficient on LIQ found in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 could be the result of omitting a measure of the convenience yield from the regressions. In other words, our previous finding that Italian and Spanish bonds tend to trade at a premium when investors value liquidity more highly is not due to their intrinsic liquidity (how expensive it is to trade in these bonds), but to the fact that these bonds are easily pledgeable and can be used by banks in repo transactions, so that they can be temporarily turned into liquidity with a repo at no cost even when liquidation on the spot market becomes expensive. The premium associated to this possibility of temporarily turning bonds into liquidity (the convenience yield) might have been higher exactly when investors attached a higher value to liquidity, that is, when LIQ (a measure of investors' appetite for liquidity) was higher.

As far as the economic significance of the convenience yields is concerned, we find that it is not negligible and it is similar across countries: depending on the model used, convenience yields account on average for between 16 and 26 basis points of the sovereign spreads¹².

We also propose a battery of regressions (Table 5) where we try to control, albeit in an admittedly crude fashion, for potential biases introduced by CDS liquidity premia (see Section 2.4 for a discussion). We conjecture that the part of the German sovereign spread not explained by the credit and liquidity proxies is entirely due to the CDS liquidity premia that enter the regressions through the proxies of credit premia (which are calculated from CDS quotes). In particular, we use the residuals estimated from one of the regressions in Table 4

¹²Bear in mind that the effect is negative, that is, convenience yields reduce spreads.

(the last of the third block; it includes bid/ask and LIQ, and it has the coefficient on HW constrained to 1) as a proxy for the CDS liquidity premium, and we add it as an explanatory variable to the regressions for Italy and Spain. The rationale for this procedure is provided by the evidence of the presence of common factors in CDS liquidity premia (Badaoui, Cathcart and El-Jahel 2013). In most of our regressions, the coefficient on the CDS liquidity variable is statistically significant and positive, which means that the bias introduced by CDS liquidity premia has the same sign for all three countries. We also find that the coefficients on all the other variables do not change significantly when the proxy for the CDS liquidity premium is included among the regressors. This result provides some evidence that our results are not affected by CDS liquidity premia (although, as already stated, the proposed way of controlling for CDS liquidity premia is quite rough).

5 Vector autoregressions

In this section, we use vector autoregression (VAR) models to study aspects, such as the dynamic interactions among our variables, that cannot be captured in the linear regression framework used in the previous section. In particular, we use Bayesian VAR models to analyze how shocks to credit and liquidity premia impact – in terms of impulse response functions and variance decompositions – on sovereign spreads. Furthermore, we employ an agnostic identification strategy that allows to compute upper and lower bounds on the relative importance of the different premia. This might help to address possible concerns about the interpretation of the regressions in the previous sections. As a matter of fact, one could argue that gauging the importance of the different premia only from the estimates of their regression coefficients could be misleading in case some of the regressors were significantly correlated. We address this kind of concern in what follows, by showing that, even when we consider identification schemes in which the covariance between liquidity premia and credit

premia can be entirely attributed to liquidity premia, the latter explain only a small fraction of the variance of sovereign spreads.

5.1 The VAR model

We use VARs to model the dynamic interactions among four variables: the sovereign spread, the HW loss rate, the bid-ask spread and the LIQ indicator. The choice of the proxies for credit and liquidity risk is based on the evidence presented in the previous section that they provide the best performance in explaining sovereign spreads.

By performing a preliminary analysis based on OLS estimates, we find that first-order models are preferred to higher-order ones according to the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). Therefore, we restrict our attention to first-order models

$$y_t = \mu + \rho y_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t$$

where y_t is a $K \times 1$ vector of variables, μ is a $K \times 1$ vector of constants, ρ is a $K \times K$ matrix of constants and ε_t is a $K \times 1$ vector of zero-mean multivariate normal error terms.

5.2 Estimation technique

We choose to estimate the VARs with Bayesian techniques. We prefer the latter to standard frequentist techniques for two reasons. First, we want to take parameter uncertainty into account in our impulse response analysis and in our variance decompositions, and this can be transparently accomplished with Bayesian estimation. Second, we want to rule out parameters that give rise to explosive trajectories for y_t . This can also easily be done in a Bayesian setting, by assigning zero prior probability to such parameters (more on this below).

Denote by Σ the Choleski factor of the covariance matrix of ε_t . In order to keep the analysis objective, the following uninformative and mutually independent priors are assigned

to the parameters:

- μ : each entry is assigned a uniform improper prior on $(-\infty, \infty)$;
- ρ : uniform improper prior on the set

$$\left\{ \rho \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K} : \sup_{\lambda \in \operatorname{eig}(\rho)} |\lambda| \le 1 \right\}$$

where $\operatorname{eig}(\rho)$ is the set of eigenvalues of ρ ;

- diagonal entries of Σ : uniform improper prior on $[0, \infty)$;
- off-diagonal non-zero entries of Σ : uniform improper prior on $(-\infty, \infty)$.

An independence-chain Metropolis-Hastings algorithm is employed to simulate from the posterior distribution of the parameters. Denote by θ the vector obtained by stacking all the non-zero entries of μ , ρ and Σ . As a proposal distribution for θ , we use a multivariate normal distribution obtained from an ancillary estimation¹³. The chain is run for 105,000 iterations and the the first 5,000 draws are discarded. The lowest acceptance rate is 35 per cent (for Spain). For all countries, Raftery and Lewis' (1995) run length control diagnostic¹⁴ indicates that the sample size is more than 200 times the minimum required size.

We use an agnostic procedure to identify the shocks. For each posterior draw of θ , we also draw a random recursive Choleski ordering of the shocks, and we use it to compute an impulse response function and a variance decomposition. Thus, we obtain distributions of impulse responses and variance decompositions that take into account the uncertainty on both the parameters and the identification of the shocks. In particular, we assign a uniform

¹³The proposal distribution is a multivariate normal distribution, whose mean is equal to the maximum likelihood estimate of θ obtained without imposing constraints on ρ , and whose covariance matrix is equal to the estimated asymptotic covariance matrix of the maximum likelihood estimator.

 $^{^{14}}$ The parameters of the diagnostic are set in such a way that the minimum required size allows to estimate the 2.5% quantile with an error <1% with probability 95%.

discrete distribution to all permutations of the variables where the sovereign spread occupies the last position. By assigning the last position to the innovation in the sovereign spread, we allow all the shocks that affect credit and liquidity premia to also have a contemporaneous effect on the sovereign spread. In this way, the shock to the sovereign spread has a residual role: it captures the innovations to the spread that cannot be explained by the shocks to our proxies for credit and liquidity premia.

Assigning equal probability to all possible orderings of the variables was originally proposed by Lindeman, Merenda, and Gold (1980) for estimating relative importance in regression models, and has subsequently become popular for carrying out variance decompositions (see Grömping 2007, for a review). For applications to finance of this technique, see, for example, Diebold and Yilmaz (2009) and the references in Klößner and Wagner (2013).

We also explore agnostic identification strategies based on sign restrictions (see Uhlig 2005). In particular, we use the multivariate technique based on random draws of orthonormal rotation matrices proposed by Lippi and Nobili (2012). However, the few sign restrictions we can safely impose¹⁵ do not lead to any meaningful identification of the shocks: virtually all random rotations satisfy the restrictions and, as a result, the variance of the sovereign spread is estimated to be spread equally among the four shocks. The results from this supplementary analysis are not reported in the paper.

5.3 Results for Italy

Table 6 reports the estimated decomposition of the variance of the sovereign spread, as well as the estimated response of the sovereign spread to one-standard-deviation shocks. For both objects, we report the mean and the first and ninth deciles.

At a 4-week forecast horizon, shocks to the HW loss rate explain about 70% of the

¹⁵We impose that positive shocks to the credit risk premium and to the bid-ask spread have a positive impact on the sovereign spread at all horizons.

variability of the spread, while the remaining variability is explained almost entirely by residual shocks specific to the spread (i.e., shocks that affect only the spread). Shocks to the bid-ask spread and the LIQ indicator explain about 2% of the variability. The impact of these shocks has the same sign found in the regression analysis, that is, positive for the bid-ask spread and negative for LIQ, but it is not significantly different from zero.

By increasing the forecast horizon, the proportion of variance explained by the HW loss rate increases (up to 84% at a 52-week horizon), while that explained by shocks that are specific to the sovereign spread decreases. The proportion explained by the bid-ask spread and the LIQ indicator increases somewhat (up to 9% cumulatively), but the response to these variables remains not significantly different from zero.

The differences between the bounds and the central estimates of the variance decomposition are seldom greater than 10 percentage points in absolute value. Overall, even if boundary values were considered, the main qualitative deductions from the variance decomposition would not be affected. In particular, the bounds on the importance of the liquidity variables are quite tight. The interpretation is as follows: irrespective of the identification scheme that is randomly drawn, the relative importance of the liquidity variables remains limited.

In summary, the insights from the VAR analysis are similar to those already gained from the regression analysis: the proxy for the credit premium explains the great majority of the variability in the sovereign spread, while the liquidity proxies explain a small fraction of variance and are often not statistically significant.

5.4 Results for Spain

Results for Spain are analogous to those obtained for Italy. The only relevant differences are that the proportion of variance explained by shocks to the HW loss rate is smaller at short horizons (but comparable at long horizons), and shocks to the bid-ask spread explain a greater portion of the variability in the sovereign spread. Furthermore, the impact of the shocks to the bid-ask spread is significantly different from zero at short horizons.

Also in the case of Spain, insights from the VAR analysis are similar to those provided by the regression analysis.

5.5 Results for Germany

A predominant portion (91% and 76% at the 4-week and 52-week horizons respectively) of the variability in the German sovereign spread is not explained by shocks to the proxies for credit and liquidity premia. The response to shocks to the HW loss rate is estimated to be zero at all forecasting horizons (with tight confidence bounds). This provides further evidence of the disconnect between the German CDS and sovereign spreads already found in previous sections. Furthermore, the impacts of the shocks to the bid-ask spread and to the LIQ indicator are not significantly different from zero, except for the impact of the bid-ask spread at a 4-week horizon, which is positive and significant.

Overall, the results from the VAR analysis seem to confirm those from the regression analysis: all of the proxies for credit and liquidity premia provide little explanatory power for the German spread.

6 Conclusions

We have conducted an empirical analysis of sovereign bond spreads and their two main components, namely, credit and liquidity premia. We have discussed and analyzed various proxies for these components. We have provided evidence that raw CDS spreads might be inadequate for measuring the credit premia and we have proposed other proxies, also derived from CDS quotes, that provide a better fit to sovereign spreads in our sample. These proxies for the credit premia explain a predominant portion of the variability of sovereign spreads, while the proxies for the liquidity premia have little additional explanatory power, although they are in several cases statistically significant. As far as economic significance is concerned, the magnitude of liquidity effects is found to be on average small (across models and time), even if, according to some model specifications, these effects were sporadically large during part of our sample. In particular, marked increases in the illiquidity of sovereign bonds (measured by bid-ask spreads) might have contributed to exacerbate the spike in sovereign spreads observed in the second half of 2011. We have also provided evidence that increases in investors' appetite for liquidity (measured by various liquidity spreads) might have had a dampening effect on sovereign spreads. While this effect could seem counterintuitive, we argue (and we provide empirical evidence in favor of our argument) that it might have to do with the fact that, despite the deterioration in liquidity experienced on the secondary market for sovereign bonds, these bonds continued to be highly liquid assets for banks because they could be pledged as collateral in repo transactions (not only with other banks but also with the central bank) and could be temporarily turned into liquidity at no cost even when liquidation on the spot market became expensive.

References

- [1] Acharya, V., and V. L. H. Pedersen (2005). "Asset pricing with liquidity risk," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 77, 375-410.
- [2] Amihud, Y. and H. Mendelson (1986). "Asset pricing and the bid-ask spread," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 17, 223-249.
- [3] Arce, Ó., S. Mayordomo, S., and J. I. Peña (2013). Credit-risk valuation in the sovereign CDS and bonds markets: Evidence from the euro area crisis. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 35, 124-145.
- [4] Arghyrou, M. G., and A. Kontonikas, A. (2012). The EMU sovereign-debt crisis: Fundamentals, expectations and contagion. *Journal of International Financial Markets, In*stitutions and Money, 22, 658-677.
- [5] Arora, N., P. Gandhi, and F. A. Longstaff (2012). "Counterparty credit risk and the credit default swap market," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 103, 280-293.
- [6] Badaoui, S., L. Cathcart, and L. El-Jahel (2013). "Do sovereign credit default swaps represent a clean measure of sovereign default risk? A factor model approach," *Journal* of Banking and Finance, 37, 2392-2407.
- [7] Banerjee, S., and J. J. Graveline (2014). "Trading in derivatives when the underlying is scarce," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 111, 589-608.
- [8] Bao, J., J. Pan, and J. Wang (2011). "The Illiquidity of Corporate Bonds," Journal of Finance, 66, 911-946.
- [9] Beber, A., M. W. Brandt, and K. A. Kavajecz (2009). "Flight-to-quality or flight-toliquidity? Evidence from the Euro-area bond market," *Review of Financial Studies*, 22, 925-957.
- [10] Blanco, R., S. Brennan, and I. W. Marsh (2005). "An Empirical Analysis of the Dynamic Relation between Investment-Grade Bonds and Credit Default Swaps," *Journal* of Finance, 60, 2255-2281.
- [11] Bongaerts, D., F. de Jong, and J. Driessen (2011). "Derivative Pricing with Liquidity Risk: Theory and Evidence from the Credit Default Swap Market," *Journal of Finance*, 66, 203-240.
- [12] Buraschi, A., and D. Menini (2002). "Liquidity risk and specialness," Journal of Financial Economics, 64, 243-284.
- [13] Bühler, W., and M. Trapp (2009). "Time-varying credit risk and liquidity premia in bond and CDS markets," *CFR Working Papers*, 09-13, University of Cologne, Centre for Financial Research (CFR).

- [14] Cassola, N., A. Hortaçsu, and J. Kastl (2013). "The 2007 Subprime Market Crisis Through the Lens of European Central Bank Auctions for Short-Term Funds," *Econometrica*, 81 (2013), 1309-1345.
- [15] Chen, L., D. A. Lesmond, and J. Wei (2007). "Corporate Yield Spreads and Bond Liquidity," *Journal of Finance*, 62, 119-149.
- [16] Chen, R-R, X. Cheng, and L. Wu (2005), "Dynamic interactions between interest rate, credit, and liquidity risks: Theory and evidence from the term structure of credit default swap spreads", mimeo, Fordham University.
- [17] Cherian, J. A., E. Jacquier, and R. A. Jarrow (2004). "A model of the convenience yields in on-the-run Treasuries," *Review of Derivatives Research*, 7, 79-97.
- [18] Constantinides, G. M. (1986). "Capital Market Equilibrium with Transaction Costs," *Journal of Political Economy*, 94, 842-62.
- [19] de Jong, F., and J. Driessen (2012). "Liquidity Risk Premia in Corporate Bond Markets," Quarterly Journal of Finance, 2, 1-34.
- [20] De Santis, R. A. (2013). "The euro area sovereign debt crisis: Identifying flight-toliquidity and the spillover mechanisms," *Journal of Empirical Finance*, forthcoming.
- [21] De Socio, A. (2013) The interbank market after the financial turmoil: Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 37, 1340-1358.
- [22] Di Cesare, A., G. Grande, M. Manna, and M. Taboga (2012). "Recent estimates of sovereign risk premia for euro-area countries", *Bank of Italy Occasional Papers*, 128.
- [23] Diebold, F. X., and K. Yilmaz (2009). "Measuring Financial Asset Return and Volatility Spillovers, with Application to Global Equity Markets," *Economic Journal*, 119, 158-171.
- [24] Duffie D., N. Garleanu, and L. H. Pedersen (2002). "Securities lending, shorting, and pricing," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 66, 307-339.
- [25] Duffie D., N. Garleanu, and L. H. Pedersen (2005). "Over-the-Counter Markets," Econometrica, 73, 1815-1847.
- [26] Duffie, D., M. Schroder, and C. Skidas (1996). "Recursive valuation of defaultable securities and the timing of resolution of uncertainty," *Annals of Applied Probability*, 6, 1075-1090.
- [27] Duffie, D., and K. J. Singleton (1999). "Modeling Term Structures of Defaultable Bonds," *Review of Financial Studies*, 12, 687-720.
- [28] Ejsing, J., M. Grothe, and O. Grothe (2012). "Liquidity and credit risk premia in government bond yields," *ECB Working Paper Series*, 1440, European Central Bank.

- [29] Favero, C. A., M. Pagano, and E. L. von Thadden (2010). "How does liquidity affect government bond yields?" Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 45, 107-134.
- [30] Feldhütter, P., and D. Lando (2008). "Decomposing swap spreads," Journal of Financial Economics, 88, 375-405.
- [31] Fisher, M., D. Nychka, and D. Zervos (1995). "Fitting The Term Structure of Interest Rates With Smoothing Splines," *Finance and Economics Discussion Series Working Paper*, No. 95-1, Federal Reserve Board, Washington, D.C.
- [32] Fontaine, J. S., and R. Garcia (2012). "Bond liquidity premia," Review of Financial Studies, 25, 1207-1254.
- [33] Grömping, U. (2007). "Estimators of Relative Importance in Linear Regression Based on Variance Decomposition," *The American Statistician*, 61, 139-147.
- [34] Huang, M. (2003). "Liquidity shocks and equilibrium liquidity premia," Journal of Economic Theory, 109, 104-129.
- [35] Hull, J., M. Predescu, and A. White (2004). "The relationship between credit default swap spreads, bond yields, and credit rating announcements," *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 28, 2789-2811.
- [36] Hull, J., and A. White (2000). "Valuing Credit Default Swaps I: No Counterparty Default Risk," *Journal of Derivatives*, 8, 29-40.
- [37] Hull, J., and A. White (2003). "The Valuation of Credit Default Swap Options," *Journal of Derivatives*, 10, 40-50.
- [38] Jang, B-G, H. K. Koo, H. Liu, and M. Loewenstein (2007). "Liquidity Premia and Transaction Costs," *Journal of Finance*, 62, 2329-2366.
- [39] Lando, D. (1998). "On Cox Processes and Credit Risky Securities," *Review of Derivatives Research*, 2, 99-120.
- [40] Lane, P. R. (2012). "The European Sovereign Debt Crisis," Journal of Economic Perspectives, 26, 49-68.
- [41] Lee, K-H (2011). "The world price of liquidity risk," Journal of Financial Economics, 99, 136-161.
- [42] Lindeman, R. H., P. F. Merenda, and R. Z. Gold (1980). Introduction to Bivariate and Multivariate Analysis, Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman.
- [43] Lippi, F., and A. Nobili (2012). "Oil And The Macroeconomy: A Quantitative Structural Analysis," *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 10, 1059-1083.

- [44] Liu, J., F. A. Longstaff, and R. E. Mandell (2006). "The Market Price of Risk in Interest Rate Swaps: The Roles of Default and Liquidity Risks," *The Journal of Business*, 79, 2337-2360.
- [45] Livingston, M., and S. Jain (1982). "Flattening of Bond Yield Curves for Long Maturities," Journal of Finance, 37, 157-167.
- [46] Longstaff, F. A., S. Mithal, and E. Neis (2005). "Corporate Yield Spreads: Default Risk or Liquidity? New Evidence from the Credit Default Swap Market," *Journal of Finance*, 60, 2213-2253.
- [47] Klößner, S., and S. Wagner (2013). "Exploring All VAR Orderings for Calculating Spillovers? Yes, We Can! – A Note on Diebold and Yilmaz," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 29, 172-179.
- [48] Mercurio, F. (2009). "Interest Rates and The Credit Crunch: New Formulas and Market Models," mimeo.
- [49] Monfort, A., and J.P. Renne (2014). "Decomposing euro-area sovereign spreads: credit and liquidity risks", *Review of Finance*, 18, 2103-2151.
- [50] Morini, M. (2009). "Solving the puzzle in the interest rate market," mimeo.
- [51] Nagel, S. (2012). "Evaporating Liquidity," Review of Financial Studies, 25, 2005-2039.
- [52] Papageorgiou, N., and F. S. Skinner (2006). "Credit Spreads And The Zero-Coupon Treasury Spot Curve," *Journal of Financial Research*, 29, 421-439.
- [53] Pastor, L., and R. F. Stambaugh (2003). "Liquidity Risk and Expected Stock Returns," *Journal of Political Economy*, 111, 642-685.
- [54] Raftery, A. E., and S. M. Lewis (1995). The Number of Iterations, Convergence Diagnostics and Generic Metropolis Algorithms, in W. R. Gilks, D. J. Spiegelhalter and S. Richardson (eds), Practical Markov Chain Monte Carlo. London, UK: Chapman and Hall, 115-30.
- [55] Reinhart, V., and B. Sack (2002). "The Changing Information Content of Market Interest Rates," Bank for International Settlements Papers, 12, 340-357.
- [56] Shambaugh, J. C., R. Reis, and H. Rey (2012) "The Euro's Three Crises," *Brookings* Papers on Economic Activity, SPRING 2012, 157-231.
- [57] Schwarz, K. (2010). "Mind the gap: disentangling credit and liquidity in risk spreads," mimeo.
- [58] Taboga, M. (2013). "What is a prime bank? A Euribor-OIS spread perspective," *International finance*, forthcoming.

- [59] Tang, D., and H. Yan (2012), "Liquidity and credit default swap spreads", mimeo, University of Hong Kong.
- [60] Uhlig, H. (2005). "What are the effects of monetary policy on output? Results from an agnostic identification procedure," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 52, 381-419.
- [61] Vayanos, D. and J-L Vila (1999). "Equilibrium interest rate and liquidity premium with transaction costs," *Economic Theory*, 13, 509-539.
- [62] Wagenvoort, R., and S. Zwart (2014). "Uncovering the Common Risk Free Rate in the European Monetary Union," *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 29, 394-414.



Figure 1 – Sovereign spreads and proxies for credit risk

Panel A - Italy

Panel B - Spain



Panel C - Germany



38

Figure 2 – Measures of liquidity and liquidity risk premia



Panel A – Bid-ask spreads

Panel B – Observable liquidity risk premia



	Mean	St. dev.	Min	q1	q2	q3	Max
OIS	3.13	0.99	1.18	2.39	3.10	4.15	4.86
y Ger	3.36	0.97	1.25	2.59	3.53	4.19	4.86
y Ita	4.85	0.71	3.87	4.34	4.67	5.05	7.64
y Spa	4.81	0.79	3.49	4.20	4.52	5.47	7.60
y-OIS Ger	0.22	0.21	-0.16	0.04	0.19	0.41	0.65
y-OIS Ita	1.72	1.46	0.03	0.51	1.33	2.04	5.50
y-OIS Spa	1.68	1.58	-0.16	0.28	1.20	2.68	6.12
CDS Ger	0.34	0.22	0.02	0.11	0.35	0.48	0.90
CDS Ita	1.45	1.18	0.12	0.50	1.15	1.97	4.45
CDS Spa	1.45	1.15	0.06	0.47	1.15	2.38	4.22
HW Ger	0.35	0.23	0.01	0.12	0.37	0.51	0.95
HW Ita	1.79	1.54	0.11	0.53	1.40	2.37	5.71
HW Spa	1.85	1.58	0.06	0.50	1.28	3.16	5.71
$b/a \ Ger$	0.06	0.02	0.01	0.04	0.05	0.07	0.17
b/a Ita	0.20	0.15	0.03	0.10	0.18	0.25	1.53
b/a Spa	0.33	0.25	0.04	0.09	0.28	0.48	1.02
KfW	0.33	0.16	0.00	0.20	0.35	0.43	0.69
AAA	0.70	0.35	0.21	0.48	0.66	0.78	2.23
off-on	0.07	0.11	-0.03	0.00	0.05	0.10	0.45
LIQ	0.40	0.20	0.07	0.30	0.36	0.45	1.01

Table 1 - Descriptive statistics 16

 $^{^{16}}$ q1, q2 and q3 are the first, second and third quartiles of the empirical distribution of the variables reported in the rows. y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. KfW, AAA, off-on and LIQ are the liquidity indicators proposed in subsection 2.4. Ger, Ita and Spa are abbreviations for Germany, Italy and Spain respectively.

с	CDS	HW	b/a	KfW	LIQ	R^2	s.e.
-0.03	1.21 ***					0.95	0.33
-0.03	1.21 ***		-0.01			0.95	0.33
-0.05	1.19 ***			0.13		0.95	0.33
-0.05	1.19 ***		-0.05	0.16		0.95	0.33
0.15	1.23 ***				-0.57	0.95	0.32
0.16	1.20 ***		0.51 **		-0.75 **	0.95	0.32
0.03		0.94 ***				0.97	0.25
-0.02		0.91 ***	0.52 *			0.97	0.24
-0.00		0.92 ***		0.22		0.97	0.25
-0.01		0.91 ***	0.54 **	-0.06		0.97	0.24
0.08		0.94 ***			-0.14	0.97	0.25
0.10		0.90 ***	0.83 ***		-0.45 *	0.97	0.24
0.27 ***	$1 \mathrm{cn}$					0.92	0.41
0.08	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		0.98 **			0.93	0.39
-0.13 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$			1.24 ***		0.94	0.36
-0.13 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		0.17	1.14 ***		0.94	0.36
0.32	$1 \mathrm{cn}$				-0.14	0.92	0.41
0.28	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.51 ***		-0.84 *	0.94	0.37
-0.08 *		$1 \mathrm{cn}$				0.97	0.27
-0.08		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	-0.00			0.97	0.27
0.04		$1 \mathrm{cn}$		-0.37 **		0.97	0.26
0.05		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.46 **	-0.65 ***		0.97	0.26
0.02		$1 \mathrm{cn}$			-0.25	0.97	0.27
0.01		1 cn	0.22 *		-0.35	0.97	0.26

Table 2 – Baseline regressions – $Italy^{17}$

 $^{^{17}}$ The dependent variable is y-OIS. y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. KfW and LIQ are two of the liquidity indicators proposed in subsection 2.4. s.e. is the standard error of the regressions. When a coefficient value is constrained, it is followed by cn. The first column reports the estimates of the intercepts. *, ** and *** denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 per cent levels respectively.

С	CDS	HW	b/a	KfW	LIQ	R^2	s.e.
-0.23 ***	1.31 ***					0.91	0.49
-0.29 ***	1.10 ***		1.13			0.91	0.47
-0.10	1.40 ***			-0.76		0.91	0.48
-0.12	1.18 ***		1.29 *	-1.02		0.92	0.45
-0.00	1.33 ***				-0.70	0.91	0.47
-0.04	1.10 ***		1.26 *		-0.79 **	0.92	0.45
-0.11		0.96 ***				0.93	0.42
-0.19 **		0.82 ***	1.05 **			0.94	0.39
-0.08		0.98 ***		-0.17		0.93	0.42
-0.10		0.84 ***	1.19 **	-0.54		0.94	0.39
-0.06		0.97 ***			-0.14	0.93	0.42
-0.09		0.81 ***	1.15 **		-0.32	0.94	0.39
0.22	$1 \mathrm{cn}$					0.86	0.60
-0.27 ***	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.52 ***			0.91	0.47
-0.22 **	$1 \mathrm{cn}$			1.35 ***		0.87	0.56
-0.16 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.84 **	-0.67		0.91	0.46
0.32	$1 \mathrm{cn}$				-0.25	0.86	0.60
-0.02	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.66 ***		-0.79 **	0.92	0.45
-0.18 **		$1 \mathrm{cn}$				0.93	0.42
-0.20 **		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.08			0.93	0.42
-0.07		$1 \mathrm{cn}$		-0.33		0.93	0.42
-0.05		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.50	-0.88		0.93	0.41
-0.11		$1 \mathrm{cn}$			-0.18	0.93	0.42
-0.13 *		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.11		-0.22	0.93	0.42

Table 3 – Baseline regressions – Spain¹⁸

¹⁸The dependent variable is y-OIS. y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. KfW and LIQ are two of the liquidity indicators proposed in subsection 2.4. s.e. is the standard error of the regressions. When a coefficient value is constrained, it is followed by cn. The first column reports the estimates of the intercepts. *, ** and *** denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 per cent levels respectively.

с	CDS	HW	b/a	KfW	LIQ	R^2	s.e.
0.14	0.25					0.07	0.20
0.01	0.19		2.60 **			0.16	0.19
0.12	0.13			0.18		0.07	0.20
-0.00	0.11		2.57 **	0.13		0.16	0.19
0.04	-0.01				0.49 *	0.17	0.19
0.00	0.04		1.33		0.35	0.19	0.19
0.14		0.23				0.07	0.20
0.01		0.18	2.63 **			0.16	0.19
0.12		0.11		0.19		0.07	0.20
-0.00		0.11	2.59 **	0.12		0.16	0.19
0.04		-0.01			0.49 *	0.17	0.19
0.00		0.04	1.35		0.34	0.19	0.19
-0.12 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$					Neg.	0.26
-0.18 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.19			Neg.	0.26
0.15	$1 \mathrm{cn}$			-0.83 ***		Neg.	0.22
0.04	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		2.40 **	-0.90 ***		Neg.	0.21
-0.01	$1 \mathrm{cn}$				-0.28	Neg.	0.26
-0.11	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		3.83 **		-0.60 **	Neg.	0.24
-0.13 *		$1 \mathrm{cn}$				Neg.	0.27
-0.20 *		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	1.29			Neg.	0.27
0.16		$1~{\rm cn}$		-0.89 ***		Neg.	0.23
0.04		$1~{\rm cn}$	2.59 **	-0.97 ***		Neg.	0.22
-0.01		$1~{\rm cn}$			-0.32	Neg.	0.26
-0.13 *		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	4.23 **		-0.67 **	Neg.	0.25

Table 4 – Baseline regressions – Germany¹⁹

¹⁹The dependent variable is y-OIS. y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. KfW and LIQ are two of the liquidity indicators proposed in subsection 2.4. s.e. is the standard error of the regressions. When a coefficient value is constrained, it is followed by a cn. The first column reports the estimates of the intercepts. *, ** and *** denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 per cent levels respectively.

Table 5 – Augmented regressions²⁰

с	CDS	HW	b/a	LIQ	CONV	cds-LIQ	R^2	s.e.
0.19	1.21 ***		0.73 **	-0.37	-0.42 ***		0.96	0.29
0.12		0.91 ***	1.01 ***	-0.17	-0.31 ***		0.98	0.22
0.31 *	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.74 ***	-0.50	-0.38 **		0.94	0.35
0.03		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.41 ***	-0.07	-0.32 **		0.97	0.25
0.18 *	1 99 ***		0 62 **	-0.29	-0.51 ***	0 57 ***	0.96	0.28
0.10	1.20	0.96 ***	0.94 ***	-0.10	-0.38 ***	0.51 ***	0.98	0.20
0.29	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.61 ***	-0.51	-0.35 *	-0.24	0.95	0.35
0.08		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.77 ***	-0.05	-0.40 ***	0.66 ***	0.98	0.21

Panel A - Italy

Panel B - Spain

с	CDS	HW	b/a	LIQ	CONV	$\operatorname{cds-LIQ}$	R^2	s.e.
-0.00	1.14 ***		1.09 *	-0.33	-0.40 ***		0.93	0.43
-0.05		0.83 ***	1.03 **	0.11	-0.35 ***		0.94	0.38
0.01	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.64 ***	-0.38	-0.35 **		0.93	0.44
-0.09		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.09	0.28	-0.43 ***		0.94	0.40
-0.01	1.19 ***		1.04	-0.29	-0.43 ***	0.34	0.93	0.43
-0.07		0.87 ***	0.99 **	0.16	-0.39 ***	0.35 **	0.94	0.37
0.01	$1 \mathrm{cn}$		1.69 ***	-0.38	-0.35 **	0.10	0.93	0.44
-0.10		$1 \mathrm{cn}$	0.37	0.30	-0.45 ***	0.58 ***	0.94	0.38

 $^{^{20}}$ The dependent variable is y-OIS. y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. KfW and LIQ are two of the liquidity indicators proposed in subsection 2.4. CONV and cds-LIQ are the proxies for the convenience yield and the CDS liquidity premium proposed in Section 4.4. s.e. is the standard error of the regressions. When a coefficient value is constrained, it is followed by cn. The first column reports the estimates of the intercepts. *, ** and *** denote significance at the 10, 5 and 1 per cent levels respectively.

	Variance decomposition					Impulse response			
Italy									
	y-OIS	HW	b/a	LIQ	y-OIS	HW	b/a	LIQ	
4-week	29(23,35)	69(62,74)	2(1,4)	0(0,1)	8(6,9)	16(14,17)	1(-1,3)	-1 (-2,0)	
13-week	15(8,23)	83(74,90)	2(0,4)	1(0,2)	3(0,6)	17(14,20)	0(-3,3)	2(-1,4)	
26-week	10(4,18)	86(77, 93)	2(0,4)	2(0,7)	1(-2,5)	15(12,19)	0(-3,3)	3(-1,7)	
52-week	8(3,14)	84(70,94)	2(0,5)	7(0,18)	0(-3,4)	11(6,17)	1(-2,3)	4(-1,10)	
a :									
Spain	010	11117	1 /	110	OIG	11117	1 /	110	
	y-015	HW	b/a		y-OIS	HW	b/a		
4-week	56(49,63)	40 (33,47)	3(1,7)	1(0,2)	10(7,13)	18(16,19)	4(1,7)	-1 (-3,0)	
13-week	25 (18, 32)	71 (62, 79)	4(1,9)	1(0,2)	1(-2,5)	20(17,23)	1(-4,6)	0(-3,2)	
26-week	15(10,20)	80(72, 87)	4(1,8)	1(0,3)	1(-3,4)	18(14,23)	-1 (-6,4)	0(-4,5)	
52-week	10(6,15)	82 (72,90)	4(1,10)	4(0,9)	1 (-2,3)	13(7,20)	-1 (-5,3)	1(-5,8)	
Germany									
Ū	v-OIS	HW	b/a	LIQ	y-OIS	HW	b/a	LIQ	
4-week	91(86.95)	1(0.2)	5(1.9)	4 (1.6)	6(5.6)	0(-1.0)	$2^{'}(1.3)$	-1 (-1.0)	
13-week	87 (80.94)	2(0.4)	8(2.15)	3(1.5)	2(1.3)	0 (-1.1)	1(0.2)	0(0.1)	
26-week	83 (73.91)	3(0, 7)	8(2.15)	7(2,0)	=(1,0)	0(-1,1)	= (0, -)	1 (0.2)	
59-wook	76 (63.87)	4(1,10)	7(2,10)	12 (4.23)	0(0,1)	0 (0.1)	0(0,1)	1(0,2)	
02-WCCK	10 (00,01)	т (1,10)	1 (2,14)	12 (4,20)	0 (-1,0)	0 (0,1)	0 (0,0)	1 (0,1)	

Table 6 – Agnostic VAR 21

 $^{^{21}}$ y is the zero-coupon 10-year yield. OIS is the 10-year OIS rate. b/a is the bid-ask spread on 10-year sovereign bonds. HW is the estimate of the risk-neutral expected credit loss rate. LIQ is the liquidity indicator proposed in subsection 2.4. Figures in parentheses are the first and ninth decile of the distributions of variance decompositions and impulse response functions. Forecasting horizons are reported in the leftmost column.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 994 Trade liberalizations and domestic suppliers: evidence from Chile, by Andrea Linarello (November 2014).
- N. 995 Dynasties in professions: the role of rents, by Sauro Mocetti (November 2014).
- N. 996 *Current account "core-periphery dualism" in the EMU*, by Tatiana Cesaroni and Roberta De Santis (November 2014).
- N. 997 Macroeconomic effects of simultaneous implementation of reforms after the crisis, by Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (November 2014).
- N. 998 Changing labour market opportunities for young people in Italy and the role of the family of origin, by Gabriella Berloffa, Francesca Modena and Paola Villa (January 2015).
- N. 999 *Looking behind mortgage delinquencies*, by Sauro Mocetti and Eliana Viviano (January 2015).
- N. 1000 Sectoral differences in managers' compensation: insights from a matching model, by Emanuela Ciapanna, Marco Taboga and Eliana Viviano (January 2015).
- N. 1001 How does foreign demand activate domestic value added? A comparison among the largest euro-area economies, by Rita Cappariello and Alberto Felettigh (January 2015).
- N. 1002 *Structural reforms and zero lower bound in a monetary union*, by Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (January 2015).
- N. 1003 You've come a long way, baby. Effects of commuting times on couples' labour supply, by Francesca Carta and Marta De Philippis (March 2015).
- N. 1004 Ownership networks and aggregate volatility, by Lorenzo Burlon (March 2015).
- N. 1005 *Strategy and tactics in public debt manamgement*, by Davide Dottori and Michele Manna (March 2015).
- N. 1006 Inward foreign direct investment and innovation: evidence from Italian provinces, by Roberto Antonietti, Raffaello Bronzini and Giulio Cainelli (March 2015).
- N. 1007 *The macroeconomic effects of the sovereign debt crisis in the euro area*, by Stefano Neri and Tiziano Ropele (March 2015).
- N. 1008 *Rethinking the crime reducing effect of education? Mechanisms and evidence from regional divides*, by Ylenia Brilli and Marco Tonello (April 2015).
- N. 1009 Social capital and the cost of credit: evidence from a crisis, by Paolo Emilio Mistrulli and Valerio Vacca (April 2015).
- N. 1010 Every cloud has a silver lining. The sovereign crisis and Italian potential output, by Andrea Gerali, Alberto Locarno, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (June 2015).
- N. 1011 Foreign direct investment and firm performance: an empirical analysis of Italian firms, by Alessandro Borin and Michele Mancini (June 2015).
- N. 1012 Sovereign debt and reserves with liquidity and productivity crises, by Flavia Corneli and Emanuele Tarantino (June 2015).
- N. 1013 *Bankruptcy law and bank financing*, by Giacomo Rodano, Nicolas Serrano-Velarde and Emanuele Tarantino (June 2015).
- N. 1014 Women as 'gold dust': gender diversity in top boards and the performance of Italian banks, by Silvia Del Prete and Maria Lucia Stefani (June 2015).
- N. 1015 Inflation, financial conditions and non-standard monetary policy in a monetary union. A model-based evaluation, by Lorenzo Burlon, Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (June 2015).
- N. 1016 *Short term inflation forecasting: the M.E.T.A. approach*, by Giacomo Sbrana, Andrea Silvestrini and Fabrizio Venditti (June 2015).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, v. 30, 2, pp. 291-332, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- G. GOBBI and R. ZIZZA, Does the underground economy hold back financial deepening? Evidence from the italian credit market, Economia Marche, Review of Regional Studies, v. 31, 1, pp. 1-29, TD No. 646 (November 2006).
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, v. 20, 2, pp. 189-209, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 10, 6, pp. 1318–1347, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. TABOGA, *Bond risk premia, macroeconomic fundamentals and the exchange rate,* International Review of Economics and Finance, v. 22, 1, pp. 42-65, **TD No. 699 (January 2009).**
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, v. 10, 5, pp. 1059-1083, **TD No. 704 (March 2009).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Disinflation in a DSGE perspective: sacrifice ratio or welfare gain ratio?*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 36, 2, pp. 169-182, **TD No. 736 (January 2010)**.
- S. FEDERICO, *Headquarter intensity and the choice between outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad*, Industrial and Corporate Chang, v. 21, 6, pp. 1337-1358, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- I. BUONO and G. LALANNE, *The effect of the Uruguay Round on the intensive and extensive margins of trade*, Journal of International Economics, v. 86, 2, pp. 269-283, **TD No. 743 (February 2010).**
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, Asset-based measurement of poverty, In D. J. Besharov and K. A. Couch (eds), Counting the Poor: New Thinking About European Poverty Measures and Lessons for the United States, Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press, TD No. 755 (March 2010).
- S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT and M. PISANI, The EAGLE. A model for policy analysis of macroeconomic interdependence in the euro area, Economic Modelling, v. 29, 5, pp. 1686-1714, TD No. 770 (July 2010).
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali", Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 42, 1-2, pp. 15-26, TD No. 789 (January 2006).
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- F. BUSETTI and S. DI SANZO, *Bootstrap LR tests of stationarity, common trends and cointegration,* Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, v. 82, 9, pp. 1343-1355, **TD No. 799 (March 2006).**
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, v. 122, 561, pp. 651-674, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**
- A. ANZUINI and F. FORNARI, *Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity*, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 468-488, **TD No. 817 (September 2011).**
- M. AFFINITO, Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 36, 12, pp. 3163-3184, **TD No. 826 (October 2011).**
- P. GUERRIERI and F. VERGARA CAFFARELLI, Trade Openness and International Fragmentation of Production in the European Union: The New Divide?, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 535-551, TD No. 855 (February 2012).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Network effects of public transposrt infrastructure: evidence on Italian regions, Papers in Regional Science, v. 91, 3, pp. 515-541, TD No. 869 (July 2012).
- A. FILIPPIN and M. PACCAGNELLA, *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes,* Economics of Education Review, v. 31, 5, pp. 824-834, **TD No. 875 (July 2012).**

- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 11, 2, pp. 433-465, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- F. BUSETTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Comparing forecast accuracy: a Monte Carlo investigation*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 29, 1, pp. 13-27, **TD No. 723 (September 2009).**
- D. DOTTORI, S. I-LING and F. ESTEVAN, *Reshaping the schooling system: The role of immigration*, Journal of Economic Theory, v. 148, 5, pp. 2124-2149, **TD No. 726 (October 2009).**
- A. FINICELLI, P. PAGANO and M. SBRACIA, *Ricardian Selection*, Journal of International Economics, v. 89, 1, pp. 96-109, **TD No. 728 (October 2009).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and G. MORETTI, *Real-time forecasts of inflation: the role of financial variables*, Journal of Forecasting, v. 32, 1, pp. 51-61, **TD No. 767 (July 2010).**
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, *Public-sector efficiency and political culture*, FinanzArchiv, v. 69, 3, pp. 289-316, **TD No. 786 (January 2011).**
- E. GAIOTTI, Credit availablility and investment: lessons from the "Great Recession", European Economic Review, v. 59, pp. 212-227, TD No. 793 (February 2011).
- F. NUCCI and M. RIGGI, *Performance pay and changes in U.S. labor market dynamics*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 37, 12, pp. 2796-2813, **TD No. 800 (March 2011).**
- G. CAPPELLETTI, G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *What determines annuity demand at retirement?*, The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance – Issues and Practice, pp. 1-26, **TD No. 805 (April 2011).**
- A. ACCETTURO e L. INFANTE, Skills or Culture? An analysis of the decision to work by immigrant women in Italy, IZA Journal of Migration, v. 2, 2, pp. 1-21, TD No. 815 (July 2011).
- A. DE SOCIO, *Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap"*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 27, 5, pp. 1340-1358, **TD No. 819 (September 2011).**
- S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT, M. MOHR and M. PISANI, Structural reforms and macroeconomic performance in the euro area countries: a model-based assessment, International Finance, v. 16, 1, pp. 23-44, TD No. 830 (October 2011).
- G. BARONE and G. DE BLASIO, *Electoral rules and voter turnout*, International Review of Law and Economics, v. 36, 1, pp. 25-35, **TD No. 833 (November 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 11, 5, pp. 1032-1052, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Household savings in China*, in G. Gomel, D. Marconi, I. Musu, B. Quintieri (eds), The Chinese Economy: Recent Trends and Policy Issues, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, TD No. 838 (November 2011).
- A. ANZUINI, M. J. LOMBARDI and P. PAGANO, *The impact of monetary policy shocks on commodity prices*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 9, 3, pp. 119-144, **TD No. 851 (February 2012).**
- R. GAMBACORTA and M. IANNARIO, *Measuring job satisfaction with CUB models*, Labour, v. 27, 2, pp. 198-224, **TD No. 852 (February 2012).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, Disinflation effects in a medium-scale new keynesian model: money supply rule versus interest rate rule, European Economic Review, v. 61, pp. 77-100, TD No. 867 (April 2012).
- E. BERETTA and S. DEL PRETE, Banking consolidation and bank-firm credit relationships: the role of geographical features and relationship characteristics, Review of Economics and Institutions, v. 4, 3, pp. 1-46, TD No. 901 (February 2013).
- M. ANDINI, G. DE BLASIO, G. DURANTON and W. STRANGE, Marshallian labor market pooling: evidence from Italy, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 43, 6, pp.1008-1022, TD No. 922 (July 2013).
- G. SBRANA and A. SILVESTRINI, Forecasting aggregate demand: analytical comparison of top-down and bottom-up approaches in a multivariate exponential smoothing framework, International Journal of Production Economics, v. 146, 1, pp. 185-98, TD No. 929 (September 2013).
- A. FILIPPIN, C. V, FIORIO and E. VIVIANO, *The effect of tax enforcement on tax morale*, European Journal of Political Economy, v. 32, pp. 320-331, **TD No. 937 (October 2013).**

- G. M. TOMAT, *Revisiting poverty and welfare dominance*, Economia pubblica, v. 44, 2, 125-149, **TD No. 651** (December 2007).
- M. TABOGA, *The riskiness of corporate bonds*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v.46, 4, pp. 693-713, **TD No. 730 (October 2009).**
- G. MICUCCI and P. ROSSI, *Il ruolo delle tecnologie di prestito nella ristrutturazione dei debiti delle imprese in crisi*, in A. Zazzaro (a cura di), Le banche e il credito alle imprese durante la crisi, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 763 (June 2010).**
- F. D'AMURI, *Gli effetti della legge 133/2008 sulle assenze per malattia nel settore pubblico*, Rivista di politica economica, v. 105, 1, pp. 301-321, **TD No. 787 (January 2011).**
- R. BRONZINI and E. IACHINI, Are incentives for R&D effective? Evidence from a regression discontinuity approach, American Economic Journal : Economic Policy, v. 6, 4, pp. 100-134, TD No. 791 (February 2011).
- P. ANGELINI, S. NERI and F. PANETTA, *The interaction between capital requirements and monetary policy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 6, pp. 1073-1112, **TD No. 801 (March 2011).**
- M. BRAGA, M. PACCAGNELLA and M. PELLIZZARI, *Evaluating students' evaluations of professors,* Economics of Education Review, v. 41, pp. 71-88, **TD No. 825 (October 2011).**
- M. FRANCESE and R. MARZIA, Is there Room for containing healthcare costs? An analysis of regional spending differentials in Italy, The European Journal of Health Economics, v. 15, 2, pp. 117-132, TD No. 828 (October 2011).
- L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Bank heterogeneity and interest rate setting: what lessons have we learned since Lehman Brothers?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 4, pp. 753-778, **TD No. 829 (October 2011).**
- M. PERICOLI, *Real term structure and inflation compensation in the euro area*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-42, **TD No. 841 (January 2012).**
- E. GENNARI and G. MESSINA, How sticky are local expenditures in Italy? Assessing the relevance of the flypaper effect through municipal data, International Tax and Public Finance, v. 21, 2, pp. 324-344, TD No. 844 (January 2012).
- V. DI GACINTO, M. GOMELLINI, G. MICUCCI and M. PAGNINI, *Mapping local productivity advantages in Italy: industrial districts, cities or both?*, Journal of Economic Geography, v. 14, pp. 365–394, TD No. 850 (January 2012).
- A. ACCETTURO, F. MANARESI, S. MOCETTI and E. OLIVIERI, Don't Stand so close to me: the urban impact of immigration, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 45, pp. 45-56, TD No. 866 (April 2012).
- M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Do food commodity prices have asymmetric effects on euro area inflation, Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics, v. 18, 4, pp. 419-443, TD No. 878 (September 2012).
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 3, pp. 389-410, **TD No. 879 (September 2012).**
- F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, *Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession,* Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 12, 2, pp. 432-464, TD No. 886 (October 2012).
- M. TABOGA, *What is a prime bank? A euribor-OIS spread perspective*, International Finance, v. 17, 1, pp. 51-75, **TD No. 895 (January 2013).**
- L. GAMBACORTA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Should monetary policy lean against the wind? An analysis based on a DSGE model with banking,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 43, pp. 146-74, **TD No. 921 (July 2013).**
- M. BARIGOZZI, CONTI A.M. and M. LUCIANI, Do euro area countries respond asymmetrically to the common monetary policy?, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 5, pp. 693-714, TD No. 923 (July 2013).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and M. BOTTERO, *Foreign bank lending: evidence from the global financial crisis,* Journal of International Economics, v. 92, 1, pp. 22-35, **TD No. 926 (July 2013).**

- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The Italian financial cycle: 1861-2011*, Cliometrica, v.8, 3, pp. 301-334, **TD No. 936 (October 2013).**
- D. PIANESELLI and A. ZAGHINI, *The cost of firms' debt financing and the global financial crisis*, Finance Research Letters, v. 11, 2, pp. 74-83, **TD No. 950 (February 2014).**
- A. ZAGHINI, *Bank bonds: size, systemic relevance and the sovereign*, International Finance, v. 17, 2, pp. 161-183, **TD No. 966 (July 2014).**
- S. MAGRI, Does issuing equity help R&D activity? Evidence from unlisted Italian high-tech manufacturing firms, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 23, 8, pp. 825-854, TD No. 978 (October 2014).
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Natural disasters, growth and institutions: a tale of two earthquakes,* Journal of Urban Economics, v. 84, pp. 52-66, **TD No. 949 (January 2014).**

2015

- G. BULLIGAN, M. MARCELLINO and F. VENDITTI, *Forecasting economic activity with targeted predictors*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 31, 1, pp. 188-206, **TD No. 847 (February 2012).**
- A. CIARLONE, *House price cycles in emerging economies*, Studies in Economics and Finance, v. 32, 1, **TD No. 863 (May 2012).**
- G. BARONE and G. NARCISO, Organized crime and business subsidies: Where does the money go?, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 86, pp. 98-110, **TD No. 916 (June 2013).**
- P. ALESSANDRI and B. NELSON, *Simple banking: profitability and the yield curve,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, 1, pp. 143-175, **TD No. 945 (January 2014).**
- R. AABERGE and A. BRANDOLINI, *Multidimensional poverty and inequality*, in A. B. Atkinson and F. Bourguignon (eds.), Handbook of Income Distribution, Volume 2A, Amsterdam, Elsevier, TD No. 976 (October 2014).
- M. FRATZSCHER, D. RIMEC, L. SARNOB and G. ZINNA, *The scapegoat theory of exchange rates: the first tests*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 70, 1, pp. 1-21, **TD No. 991 (November 2014).**

FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI, S. FABIANI and E. SETTE, *The age of the dragon: the effect of imports from China on firmlevel prices*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **TD No. 737 (January 2010).**
- G. DE BLASIO, D. FANTINO and G. PELLEGRINI, *Evaluating the impact of innovation incentives: evidence* from an unexpected shortage of funds, Industrial and Corporate Change, **TD No. 792 (February** 2011).
- A. DI CESARE, A. P. STORK and C. DE VRIES, *Risk measures for autocorrelated hedge fund returns*, Journal of Financial Econometrics, **TD No. 831 (October 2011).**
- D. FANTINO, A. MORI and D. SCALISE, Collaboration between firms and universities in Italy: the role of a firm's proximity to top-rated departments, Rivista Italiana degli economisti, TD No. 884 (October 2012).
- M. MARCELLINO, M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Short-Term GDP Forecasting with a mixed frequency dynamic factor model with stochastic volatility, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, **TD No. 896 (January 2013).**
- M. ANDINI and G. DE BLASIO, Local development that money cannot buy: Italy's Contratti di Programma, Journal of Economic Geography, **TD No. 915 (June 2013).**
- J. LI and G. ZINNA, On bank credit risk: sytemic or bank-specific? Evidence from the US and UK, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, **TD No. 951 (February 2015).**